RECEIVED

01-11-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP001852-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

STEVEN L. BUCKINGHAM,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Thomas J. McAdams Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087502

PAMELA MOORSHEAD Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1017490

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Was Mr. Buckingham deprived of his right to the effective assistance of counsel when:
 - His lawyer failed to exclude irrelevant evidence about unrelated firearms?

The trial court answered no.

• His lawyer failed to call a law enforcement witness who could contradict the victim's identification of Mr. Buckingham?

The trial court answered no.

 His lawyer failed to object to an unfairly suggestive and unreliable in-court identification?

The trial court answered no.

• His lawyer did not move to strike unresponsive hearsay testimony linking Mr. Buckingham to an otherwise valid alternate suspect?

The trial court answered no.

• His lawyer failed to alert the jury to a total lack of corroborative evidence regarding motive?

The trial court answered no.

2. Was Mr. Buckingham cumulatively prejudiced by these errors?

The trial court answered no.

3. Was Mr. Buckingham entitled to postconviction discovery?

The trial court answered no.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication of this case is requested as it will help to guide litigants in future cases with similar facts.

While Mr. Buckingham does not request oral argument, he welcomes the opportunity to discuss the case should the Court believe that oral argument would be of assistance to its resolution of the matter.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The information charged Mr. Buckingham with firstdegree reckless injury with use of a dangerous weapon, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 940.23(1)(a), 939.50(3)(d), and 939.63(1)(b), as well as two counts of felony bail jumping contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 946.49(1)(b) and 939.50(3)(h). (7:1). A jury convicted Mr. Buckingham of all counts. (103). He was sentenced to a lengthy term of imprisonment. (83); (App. 101). Following a timely notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief, (42), Mr. Buckingham filed a Rule 809.30 postconviction motion. (63). After conducting an evidentiary hearing, the circuit court partially granted Mr. Buckingham's motion to vacate excessive DNA surcharges. (77:9); (App. 111). The circuit court denied Mr. Buckingham's motions for a new trial and for postconviction discovery. (77); (App. 103-112). This appeal followed. (85).

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS¹

Underlying Offense

On August 19, 2013, D.F was waiting at the bus stop at 51st and North Avenue in Milwaukee with two friends, Antonio Gail and Alexandrea Coe. (99:53-54). While they waited for the bus to arrive, two young men approached the group. (99:56; 99:68). According to Alexandrea Coe, both men were holding guns. (100:34). They stopped a short distance from D.F. and, according to D.F., asked "What did [D.F.] say to him on Facebook?" (99:57).

The witnesses disagree about what happened next: According to D.F., one of the men fired his weapon a single time. (99:57). Antonio Gail, however, stated that both men pointed their weapons at D.F. and both fired a shot or shots. (100:73). Alexandrea Coe was not sure whether one or both of the men fired their weapon. (100:40). She was certain, however, that she heard "shots." (100:40).

Kira Wells, a bystander, saw only one of the men with a gun. (100:111-112). The man she witnessed with a gun then shot D.F. (100:103). At another point in her trial testimony, however, Ms. Wells was unsure whether or not "the other individual had a gun." (100:103). She did witness the other man raising his hand prior to the shooting. (100:112). Tamar Aaron was with Kira Wells when the shooting occurred. (100:118). He witnessed "two guys with a gun." (100:119). He testified that one of the individuals pointed a gun and fired two to three shots. (100:120). Law enforcement ultimately

¹ Due the lengthy nature of the trial, Mr. Buckingham's statement of facts is not an exhaustive recitation, and facts germane to the respective claims will be developed in the body of the argument.

identified two .380 casings at the scene, which they asserted were linked with the shooting. (99:48).

D.F. sustained a single non-fatal bullet wound. (99:59). He stumbled into the street and onto Tamar Aaron's vehicle. (100:121). He eventually came to rest "on the nearest stairs." (99:60). Alexandrea Coe stayed at D.F.'s side until law enforcement arrived. (100:55-57). He made no statement regarding the identity of his assailant during that time. (100:56).

Law Enforcement Investigation

Detective James Campbell was one of the first officers on the scene. (98:17). He made contact with D.F. and provided limited medical assistance. (98:19). According to Detective Campbell, D.F. "did not know the name of the person who shot him, however, he had seen the person before." (98:20). Detective Campbell was soon joined at the scene by Detective Marco Salaam. (98:41). Detective Salaam assisted in tracking the flight path of the suspects. (98:43). According to witnesses, one of the men discarded a white tshirt while fleeing the scene. (98:43). That t-shirt was recovered in vicinity of the shooting. (98:43; 99:13-14). Surveillance video shows the owner of the shirt running from the scene prior to discarding it. (99:15; 100:139). Law enforcement testified that they were unable to discern the identity of either suspect from the video due to its poor picture quality. (101:57).

When the t-shirt recovered at the scene was tested for DNA, there was a CODIS² "hit"—Paul Nelson. (100:14-15).

² "CODIS is the acronym for the Combined DNA Index System and is the generic term used to describe the FBI's program of support for (continued)

Paul Nelson was never called as a witness at trial. The jury was informed, however, that Mr. Nelson was a suspect in this shooting and his photograph was introduced as an exhibit. (101:27,73).

Identification of the Shooter

At trial, D.F. identified Mr. Buckingham as the shooter. (99:56). He stated that he could not recall what Mr. Buckingham was wearing with great specificity, asserting that "I just remember yellow and a red hat." (99:69). He testified that he gave an identification to a "white officer" that the shooter was "Lil Lo." (99:62; 99:72). According to D.F., this was a nickname for Mr. Buckingham. (99:62). He also identified Mr. Buckingham in a photo lineup conducted while D.F. was in the hospital. (99:64).

Alexandrea Coe was also asked to participate in a photo lineup. (100:44). When asked what the results of that lineup were, Ms. Coe stated at trial that, "I'm not sure if it was right, but I did point out some." (100:44). The police report documenting the photo lineup reflects that Ms. Coe made no identification. (63:22). Ms. Coe testified she did not see "any person involved in this shooting" present in the courtroom during her testimony. (100:44). She described one of the suspects as light-skinned, wearing a white t-shirt. (100:51). She was unsure whether Mr. Buckingham's skin tone—which is not light—was consistent with that of the other suspect, which she characterized as "dark." (100:63). Antonio Gail was incapable of describing the suspect(s) in his

criminal justice DNA databases as well as the software used to run these databases." (https://www.fbi.gov/services/laboratory/biometric-analysis/codis/codis-and-ndis-fact-sheet)

trial testimony. (100:69). He was only able to state that both suspects were African-American males. (100:71).

Ms. Wells testified that the man who shot the gun wore a white t-shirt. (100:112). She gave a complete description to responding officers of both suspects. (100:112). She was also shown a photo lineup and identified Mr. Buckingham as the shooter. (100:109). Her fiancée, Tamar Aaron, was also shown a lineup that included Mr. Buckingham; he did not make a positive identification. (23:9). He described the shooter as wearing a white t-shirt. (100:125). He had "fro-ish" hair. (100:125). Despite his prior inability to make an identification, Mr. Aaron identified Mr. Buckingham as the shooter at trial. (100:126).

Alleged Motive

According to D.F., he and Mr. Buckingham had a prior history. (99:75). They crossed paths, once, at a house party months before the shooting. (99:75-76). D.F. also claimed to have received private calls from Mr. Buckingham—calls in which the caller did not identify himself or herself. (99:74-75). According to D.F., the two had "an argument" on Facebook prior to the shooting, although D.F. claimed he did not recall the substance of the argument. (99:77,81). The State referenced this theory of motive in both its opening and closing statement. (98:10; 102:38).

Other Trial Testimony

Evidence was presented to the jury about two prior law enforcement contacts involving Mr. Buckingham. Officer Andrew Holzem testified that he participated in a traffic stop of a vehicle he believed to be speeding on July 5, 2014, in which Mr. Buckingham was a rear-seat passenger. (100:87). According to Officer Holzem, Mr. Buckingham initially gave

a false name, and he then fled the scene. (100:91). The vehicle was eventually searched. (100:92). Law enforcement discovered a firearm "on the floorboard where the Defendant was seated." (100:92). The paperwork related to the arrest discloses that the weapon was a .40 caliber handgun. (25:7). This is a different caliber than the casings recovered at the scene of the shooting. (99:48).

The jury also heard from Officer Michael Wawrzyniakowski. (101:5). He testified that he attempted to arrest Mr. Buckingham on September 1, 2013 for a warrant relating to "some sort of firearms offense." (101:8). He was ultimately dispatched to a location. (101:8). Mr. Buckingham was not present at that address. (101:9). The home was searched. (101:10). A .380 Bersa pistol was recovered in the attic. (101:10). The officer testified that they could not be certain Mr. Buckingham was ever even in the residence. (101:15).

Stephanie Kuntz, an analyst from the Wisconsin State Crime Laboratory, was tasked with testing the .380 Bersa pistol for DNA. (100:17). She was able to exclude Paul Nelson as a contributor to the DNA found on that weapon. (100:19). No comparison to Mr. Buckingham's DNA was performed. (100:26). A separate witness testified that no fingerprints could be recovered from the weapon. (100:151). Notwithstanding these facts, the State elicited testimony that suggested Mr. Buckingham *could* have touched the weapon. (100:29). The jury was later told that the .380 cartridges found at the scene of the crime were not fired from this Bersa handgun. (100:171). In fact, that firearm was recovered from an attic in a home that law enforcement could not conclusively assert Mr. Buckingham had ever been inside of. (101:15). The State conceded in postconviction proceedings that this gun was not involved in this shooting. (71:3).

Outcome of the Trial and Sentence

At the conclusion of the trial, Mr. Buckingham was convicted of all charges. (103). At sentencing, the State recommended twenty years of initial confinement followed by "appropriate" extended supervision. (104:4). Defense counsel recommended "in the range between 7 to 10 years initial confinement" followed by probation. (104:26). The court followed the State's recommendation, imposing a global sentence of 20 years initial confinement followed by 10 years extended supervision. (104:34).

<u>Postconviction Proceedings</u>

Mr. Buckingham filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (42). He ultimately filed a postconviction motion raising multiple claims:

- Mr. Buckingham was deprived of his right to the effective assistance of counsel when trial counsel failed to object to the admission of evidence regarding Mr. Buckingham's alleged contact with law enforcement on September 1, 2013, including the fact that this contact resulted in the discovery of an unrelated firearm.
- Mr. Buckingham was deprived of his right to the effective assistance of counsel when trial counsel failed to object to the admission of evidence regarding Mr. Buckingham's alleged contact with law enforcement on July 5, 2014, including the fact that this contact resulted in the discovery of an unrelated firearm.
- Mr. Buckingham was deprived of his right to the effective assistance of counsel when trial counsel

elicited direct evidence of his guilt with respect to uncharged and unproven other-acts evidence.³

- Mr. Buckingham was deprived of his right to the effective assistance of counsel when trial counsel failed to produce a witness who would testify that D.F. initially could not identify the shooter.
- Mr. Buckingham was deprived of his right to the effective assistance of counsel when trial counsel failed to object to a violation of Mr. Buckingham's rights under the confrontation clause.⁴
- Mr. Buckingham was deprived of his right to the effective assistance of counsel when trial counsel failed to object to an unfairly suggestive in-court identification.
- Mr. Buckingham was deprived of his right to the effective assistance of counsel when trial counsel failed to move to strike nonresponsive and highly prejudicial hearsay testimony regarding an alternate suspect in this shooting.
- Mr. Buckingham was deprived of his right to the effective assistance of counsel when trial counsel failed to alert the jury to the State's lack of evidence regarding an alleged motive.
- Mr. Buckingham was deprived of his right to the effective assistance of counsel when trial counsel did not object to the circuit court taking judicial notice of

³ That argument is not being raised on appeal.

⁴ That argument is not being raised on appeal.

untested hearsay evidence underpinning an essential element of bail jumping.⁵

Mr. Buckingham was cumulatively prejudiced by these errors.

(63).

In addition, Mr. Buckingham requested postconviction discovery. (63). He also raised a challenge to the imposition of multiple DNA surcharges and asked that the court schedule a hearing in conformity with *State v. Cherry*, 2008 WI App 80, 312 Wis.2d 203, 752 N.W.2d 393.⁶

The circuit court ordered briefing. (64). Following briefs, the circuit court held an evidentiary hearing. (108). Mr. Buckingham presented the testimony of trial counsel. (108:3). As relevant to this appeal, trial counsel testified:

- With respect to the September 1, 2013 alleged contact with law enforcement—which resulted in the discovery of an unrelated handgun—trial counsel testified that he did not object to this evidence because it was not relevant to the shooting. (108:9).
- With respect to the July 5, 2014 contact with law enforcement, resulting in the discovery of another unrelated handgun, trial counsel testified that he did not object because he believed it did not have anything to do with the case for which Mr. Buckingham was being tried. (108:12).

⁵ That argument is not being raised on appeal.

⁶ That argument is not being raised on appeal.

- With respect to his failure to call an officer who would testify about D.F.'s inability to identify Mr. Buckingham as the shooter, trial counsel did not have a strategic reason for that error. (108:15).
- With respect to the allegedly improper in-court identification, trial counsel agreed that the identification was "totally improper and inconceivable" and only failed to object because he was not anticipating it. (108:19).
- With respect to an allegedly improper and unresponsive remark that Mr. Buckingham argued should have been stricken, trial counsel asserted that he did not make that motion because he "didn't want to draw undue attention to that particular comment." (108:22).
- With respect to his failure to alert the jury to the lack of evidence regarding motive, trial counsel had no strategic reason. (108:33).

The circuit court issued a written decision and order. As relevant to this appeal, the court ruled as follows:

- September 1, 2013 evidence and July 5, 2014 evidence: Trial counsel was not ineffective because this evidence was admissible and not "other-acts" evidence. (77:3-4); (App. 105-106). Moreover, the evidence was not prejudicial. (77:4); (App. 106).
- Failure to call a witness who would testify that D.F. did not identify Mr. Buckingham as the shooter: The admission of this evidence would not "have been reasonably probable to alter the outcome of the case." (77:5); (App. 107.

- Failure to object to in-court identification: "It may be argued that counsel should have objected to the incourt identification, but courts usually hold that issues along these lines are issues for the jury to sort out." (77:6); (App. 108). Moreover, "the totality of the evidence" indicates that this was a non-prejudicial error. (77:6); (App. 108).
- Failure to move to strike nonresponsive testimony: "[T]he court cannot find that it is reasonably probable that a different result would have been reached by the jury had the detective's response been stricken." (77:6-7); (App. 108-109).
- Failure to alert the jury to lack of evidence regarding motive: The court appears to have concluded that there was neither deficient performance nor prejudice. (77:8); (App. 110).
- Postconviction discovery claim: "This claim seems something of a fishing expedition." (77:8); (App. 110). "There is no need for further discovery." (77:8); (App. 110).

Mr. Buckingham timely appealed. (85).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Buckingham's right to the effective assistance of counsel was violated when his lawyer made numerous unreasonable decisions. His lawyer performed deficiently when he failed to object to the admission of irrelevant and prejudicial evidence regarding unrelated firearms which confused the jury, failed to present the testimony of a police officer whose conversation with the victim contradicts the victim's identification and ensuing testimony, failed to object to an unfairly suggestive and unreliable in-court

identification, failed to strike prejudicial testimony designed to link his client with another suspect, and failed to alert the jury to the total lack of evidence regarding motive.

These errors prejudiced Mr. Buckingham, as they led to the admission of numerous pieces of damaging testimony which undermine the confidence in the ensuing jury verdict.

In addition, Mr. Buckingham was entitled to postconviction discovery. In this case, Mr. Buckingham sought evidence relating to the State's motive theory and a co-defendant. The trial court erroneously exercised its discretion by denying that motion because the evidence is clearly relevant and material to Mr. Buckingham's defense.

ARGUMENT

- I. Mr. Buckingham Was Deprived of His Constitutional Right to the Effective Assistance of Counsel.
 - A. Legal principles and standard of review.

A criminal defendant has the right to the effective assistance of counsel under both the state and federal constitutions. U.S. Const. Amend. VI & XIV; Wis. Const. Art. 1, § 7 & 8. To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, a defendant must establish that counsel's performance was deficient and that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984).

An attorney's performance is deficient if it falls "below objective standards of reasonableness." *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶33, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305. To prove prejudice, the defendant must show that counsel's deficient performance was "sufficient to undermine

confidence in the outcome." *Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶20 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694).

Counsel's deficient performance is prejudicial when there is a reasonable probability "that, but for counsel's [deficient performance], the result of the proceeding would have been different," or when counsel's errors "were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687, 694. Whether confidence in the outcome has been undermined is distinct from whether or not the evidence is sufficient to convict. *State v. Pitsch*, 124 Wis.2d 628, 645, 369 N.W.2d 711 (1985). A defendant also need not be prejudiced by "each deficient act or omission in isolation." *Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶63. Rather, prejudice may be established by the cumulative effect of counsel's deficient performance. *Id*.

In assessing whether trial counsel was ineffective, this Court applies *de novo* review. *Id.*, ¶21.

B. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to testimony regarding Mr. Buckingham's alleged possession of a firearm on September 1, 2013.

1. Background.

Officer Michael Wawrzyniakowski testified that on September 1, 2013, Mr. Buckingham "was wanted for some sort of firearms offense," and had been observed by another law enforcement officer. (101:6-8). A foot pursuit ensued.

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