### **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN 03-12-2018

## COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP1852-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

STEVEN L. BUCKINGHAM,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE THOMAS J. MCADAMS, PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### ARGUMENT

I. None of attorney Toran's alleged failures singularly or cumulatively amounted to ineffective assistance of counsel.

### A. Standard of review

Whether a defendant was denied the constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact. *State v. Mayo*, 2007 WI 78, ¶ 32, 301 Wis. 2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115 (citation omitted). A reviewing court upholds a circuit court's findings of fact "unless they are clearly erroneous." *Id.* (citation omitted). "Whether counsel's performance was deficient and prejudicial to his or her client's defense is a question of law" reviewed de novo. *Id.* (citation omitted).

### B. Relevant law

It is well-settled that the right to counsel contained in the United States Constitution<sup>3</sup> and the Wisconsin Constitution<sup>4</sup> includes the right to the effective assistance of counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). A defendant who asserts ineffective assistance must demonstrate: (1) counsel performed deficiently, and (2) the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Wis. Const. art. I, § 7.

deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. *Id.* at 687. "The defendant has the burden of proof on both components" of the *Strickland* test. *State v. Smith*, 207 Wis. 2d 258, 273, 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688).

To prove deficient performance, a defendant "must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. "Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential." *Id.* at 689. Effective counsel does not mean successful counsel and counsel's performance should not be deemed deficient solely because the defense proved unsuccessful. *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 25, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334. "Counsel need not be perfect, indeed not even very good, to be constitutionally adequate." *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 19, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305 (citation omitted).

"The defendant may not presume the second element, prejudice to the defense, simply because certain decisions or actions of counsel were made in error." Balliette, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 24. To prove prejudice, Buckingham "must show that [counsel's deficient performance] actually had an adverse effect on the defense." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693. "It is not sufficient for the defendant to show that his counsel's errors 'had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding." State v. Domke, 2011 WI 95, ¶ 54, 337 Wis. 2d 268, 805 N.W.2d 364 (citation omitted). Buckingham "must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694; State v. Love, 2005 WI 116, ¶ 30, 284 Wis. 2d 111, 700 N.W.2d 62.

- C. Toran was not ineffective for failing to object to testimony about the guns found during law enforcement's efforts to arrest Buckingham.
  - 1. Testimony about law enforcement finding either gun was not other acts evidence because there was no "act" by Buckingham introduced to show similarity to the shooting.

As a preliminary matter, Buckingham has incorrectly characterized testimony from Officer Wawrzyniakowski and Officer Holzem about finding firearms during their efforts to arrest Buckingham as improper "other acts" evidence. (See Buckingham's Br. 16–24.) This was not other acts evidence and therefore Buckingham's Sullivan<sup>5</sup> analysis is inapposite to this case.

Wisconsin Stat. § 904.04(2) states that "evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that the person acted in conformity therewith. This subsection does not exclude the evidence when offered for other purposes." Admission of other acts evidence is analyzed under the three-pronged test articulated in *State v. Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998). However, this analysis is unnecessary if the evidence is not about another crime, wrong, or act committed by the defendant, or if it is not admitted to show a similarity between the other act and the charged offense. *See State v. Bauer*, 2000 WI App 206, ¶ 7 n.2, 238 Wis. 2d 238 687, 617 N.W.2d 902.

Buckingham claims that this testimony was regarding his "alleged possession of a firearm," but the transcripts

 $<sup>^5</sup>$  State v. Sullivan, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998).

show that is not true. (See Buckingham's Br. 14, 21.) None of the State's witnesses ever alleged that Buckingham possessed either firearm. The testimony simply described law enforcement's efforts to arrest Buckingham and to locate the firearm used in the shooting. There was no testimony about any "act" committed by Buckingham involving either firearm.

Officer Wawrzyniakowski testified that directed to search a residence while assisting in a search for Buckingham, who "was wanted for some sort of firearms offense." (R. 101:7-8.) When he arrived he found three or four people in the home, but Buckingham was not there. (R. 101:9, 13.) The occupants allowed Wawrzyniakowski to search the residence for Buckingham, and during that search Wawrzyniakowski found the .380 Bersa hidden in the attic. (R. 101:14.) Wawrzyniakowski testified that no one in the house claimed the gun, so he took it into evidence. (R. 101:14–15.) Wawrzyniakowski never testified or even implied that Buckingham had been in possession of the gun; in fact, he admitted that he could not say that Buckingham had ever been in the house. (R. 101:14–15.) Buckingham fails to explain how testimony that a gun was found in a house with three or four occupants—none of whom was Buckingham—is evidence of an "other act" committed by Buckingham admitted to show a similarity to the shooting.

Similarly, Officer Holzem testified that Buckingham was finally arrested when Holzem and his partner pulled over a Chevy Impala for speeding. (R. 100:87.) Buckingham was one of three occupants of the car. (R. 100:87.) Holzem testified that while he and his partner were running wanted checks on all three occupants, Buckingham, who had given them a fake name, opened the car door and fled. (R. 100:91.) Holzem said he ran after Buckingham. After arresting him, Holzem noticed a black handgun on the floor of the car. (R. 100:92.) Neither Holzem nor any other witness testified that

the gun belonged to Buckingham, that it was found on his person, or that any physical evidence connecting it to him was found on the gun. Nor was any evidence submitted that the gun had been used in a shooting or similar crime. Rather, Holzem testified only that Buckingham committed the crime of resisting an officer by fleeing and providing a false name. (R. 100:98.)

Accordingly, Buckingham's "other acts" analysis is lacking two crucial components: 1) an "other act" committed by Buckingham involving these firearms, 2) that was introduced to show similarity to the shooting. His claims that this evidence was "inadmissible as other-acts evidence" pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2) and *Sullivan* therefore fail. (*See* Buckingham's Br. 20, 24.) As the circuit court correctly observed, this was evidence describing law enforcement's efforts to arrest Buckingham and to investigate the crime, and the State never attempted to connect Buckingham to either gun. (R. 77:3–4.) It was not other acts evidence.

# 2. Regardless of the nature of the firearms evidence, Toran had a reasonable strategic reason not to object to this evidence.

Buckingham argues in the alternative that this evidence was inadmissible under Wis. Stat. § 904.03 because it "had no probative value because the guns are unrelated to shooting" and that its"prejudicial impact overwhelming." (Buckingham's Br. 25–26.) He claims Toran was therefore deficient for failing to object to it. But evidence that the Bersa could not be linked to the shooting or to Buckingham easily meets the test for relevance. Evidence is relevant if it has "any tendency to make any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Wis. Stat. § 904.01. The evidence that the Bersa

could not be linked to the shooting or to Buckingham has a tendency to make a fact of consequence—whether the Bersa was used to commit the crime and whether Buckingham was linked to it—less probable than it would be without the evidence. Wis. Stat. § 904.01. And the State never attempted to link the gun found in the Impala to the shooting or to Buckingham. Buckingham fails to explain how the prejudicial impact of this evidence was "overwhelming" when neither gun was linked to Buckingham or to the shooting. As the circuit court observed, "there were other individuals around in each of the instances and possessing a gun by itself is not illegal or immoral." (R. 77:4.) And the transcripts show that Toran made a reasonable strategic decision not to object to this evidence because it was actually helpful to Buckingham's case.

Toran testified that he did not object to testimony about the Bersa because he knew "that they could not connect it or the gun was not involved in the shooting." (R. 108:8.) Toran believed that the case came down to identification testimony, and when asked specifically why he did not object to the admission of evidence about the Bersa, Toran replied "[b]ecause I knew that they could not get anything to pinpoint him to that gun. They can establish that [the forensic examiner] tested it. [The forensic examiner] had it. And there's no relationship to the gun that was used in the case at hand." (R. 108:9–10.) Regarding the black handgun found in the Impala, Toran said he did not object because "that gun also had no relationship to the shooting. . . . In my opinion, it did not establish that he possessed a gun. And his prints were not on the gun. . . . It was not the gun that was used in this particular event. They had no D.N.A., no fingerprints. And there was no nexus to that -- that gun that was used in the offense." (R. 108:10-11.)

Toran's testimony shows that he had a reasonable strategic reason for not objecting to evidence about the guns. Neither gun had been connected to Buckingham or to the shooting. Testimony and evidence about them tended to highlight that the State was unable to present any physical evidence connecting Buckingham to this crime. The State was not even able to produce the gun used in the shooting at all, let alone connect it to Buckingham; all of the State's searches of areas where Buckingham had supposedly been were fruitless. Toran made a strategic choice not to object to this evidence after thorough investigation of the facts, 6 and his decision is therefore "virtually unchallengable." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690.

## 3. Toran's failure to object to this testimony did not prejudice Buckingham.

Buckingham has failed to show prejudice from Toran's failure to object to this testimony. He claims that failure to do so was prejudicial because it "led to the admission of unfairly prejudicial and confusing testimony about unrelated

<sup>6</sup> Buckingham's argument on this point fails to recognize the exculpatory nature of the evidence showing that neither Bersa nor the gun in the Impala were used in the crime. When Officer Wawrzyniakowski found the Bersa, the State could not have known it was not the weapon used and therefore sent it for forensic testing. The testing all showed that it was not the gun used in the crime and could not be linked to Buckingham. The handgun found in the Impala did not match the gun used in the shooting, either, which the police report showed. The State had no physical evidence linking Buckingham to any gun or any evidence linking any gun found to the shooting. This information would have been included in the discovery provided to defense counsel. Undoubtedly had the State not introduced this evidence, Buckingham would now be claiming Toran was ineffective for failing to introduce it himself.

firearms." (Buckingham's Br. 26.) But his single sentence fails to explain why there is a reasonable probability of a different result at trial had evidence that the State could not connect Buckingham to the guns or the guns to the shooting been excluded. There was nothing confusing about this evidence. The State's witnesses testified that the Bersa was not used in the shooting, and the State never attempted to show that the .40 caliber found in the impala was the gun used. The .40 caliber was not introduced as evidence at all. And as Buckingham himself admits, identification was the "central issue" in this case. (Buckingham's Br. 27.) "This was an identification case." (Buckingham's Br. 33.) None of the gun evidence corroborated or had any relation to the eyewitness identifications. There is no probability of a different result had this evidence been excluded.

# D. Toran's failure to introduce Officer Reilly's testimony that DF could not identify Buckingham while in the ambulance was not deficient or prejudicial.

Toran's failure to call Officer Reilly to testify that DF could not identify the shooter while DF was clinging to life in the back of the ambulance was reasonable and did not prejudice Buckingham. Though Toran did not give a reason for not calling Reilly, "[a] reviewing court can determine that defense counsel's performance was objectively reasonable, even if trial counsel offers no sound strategic reasons for decisions made." *State v. Honig*, 2016 WI App 10, ¶ 24, 366 Wis. 2d 681, 874 N.W.2d 589. And here, failure to call Reilly as a witness was reasonable because DF's inability to identify anyone while his condition worsened in the ambulance was of minimal probative value given the circumstances.

Reilly's report states that while in the ambulance en route to the Children's Hospital, Reilly asked DF who shot him, and DF said "I don't know." (R. 63:145.) DF was able to

give a brief description of the suspects as two 17-year-old black males about five feet, ten inches tall. (R. 63:145.) Reilly asked DF if he knew the two men and if he had a confrontation with them previously, and DF answered "no" to both questions. (R. 63:145.)

Buckingham claims that Toran's failure to call Reilly to testify that DF could not identify anyone while en route to the hospital was deficient and prejudicial. (Buckingham's Br. 26–27.) But it was neither. His characterization of Reilly's police report as "powerful defense evidence," that "directly contradicts the testimony of D.F. at trial" ignores the circumstances under which DF's statement was given and the other identification statements given to police. (Buckingham's Br. 26.)

While DF was still coherent before the ambulance arrived, he told Officer Campbell that he did not know the name of the person who shot him but had seen the person before. (R. 77:5; 98:20.) Additionally, once he was out of surgery and stabilized, DF told police he knew the shooter's nickname, Lil Lo—the defendant's nickname. (R. 99:62–64.) He identified Buckingham as Lil Lo in a photo array. (R. 1:2.) Meanwhile, Reilly's report notes that while en route to the hospital, DF was in extreme pain, in and out of consciousness, and could not breathe when Reilly asked him about the shooter. (R. 63:145.) As the circuit court observed, "[t]o expect much from a shooting victim [while his condition worsened in the ambulance is a reach." (R. 77:5.) Contrary to Buckingham's assertion that DF's "identification was actually undergoing consistent evolution," (Buckingham's Br. 27), when DF was not in danger of imminent death, he consistently maintained that he knew the shooter but did not know his real name. A reasonably competent attorney could determine that DF's inability to identify someone while being rushed to the hospital in extreme pain and while barely conscious was of minimal probative value at best and

would not negate his other statements identifying Buckingham. Toran's failure to introduce this testimony was reasonable under the circumstances. It was not deficient performance.

And Buckingham has not shown that failure to introduce this testimony was prejudicial. DF was not the only eyewitness who identified Buckingham as the shooter both in a photo array and in court. Kira Wells also identified Buckingham in a photo array. She further identified him in court and said she was certain he was the shooter. In light of DF's other statements identifying Buckingham that were made when DF was more coherent and Kira Wells' consistent and certain statements identifying Buckingham, there is not a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different had Toran introduced this testimony.

## E. Toran appropriately responded to Aaron's in-court identification of Buckingham.

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